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Project Grow
Launched in 2013, Project Grow is Red Stripe's local raw material sourcing 
initiative. By the year 2020, the beer company aims to increase to 40% the 
volume of locally grown cassava in the production of its malt, beer and 
stout beverages to replace imported high maltose corn syrup. Project 
Grow also seeks to encourage the development of the agriculture sector 
and to give local farmers an opportunity to earn.
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Project Grow has trained 98 young people in cassava farming techniques under the Learning For Life skills training programme. 
These farmers are now gainfully employed on the four Red Stripe-operated cassava farms in St. Catherine and Clarendon.
 
Additionally, Project Grow has contracted 121 third-party farmers with over 1,300 acres of land under cassava cultivation. The 
programme provided 80% of them with ‘farmers kits’ containing planting material, irrigation equipment and fertilizer for the first 
year, and ongoing training activities to ensure best practice and the highest quality.
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OUR VISION
Wow! The world with our brands,
people and performance

OUR VALUES
Passion for quality
Brands that people love
Enjoyment of life
Respect for people and planet

OUR
BEHAVIOURS
Put safety first
Act as an entrepreneur
Collaborate through trust
Keep it simple
Learn to improve
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Red Stripe, a part of the HEINEKEN Company, is one of 
Jamaica’s leading corporate entities, employing over 300 
permanent staff members and producing the world-famous 
Red Stripe Beer. It manufactures an outstanding range of 
premium alcohol brands, spanning beers, stouts and ready-
to-drinks and distributes some of the world’s renowned 
premium spirit brands.

The company’s legacy began in 1918 when Eugene Desnoes 
and Thomas Geddes merged their carbonated soft drink 
businesses to form Desnoes and Geddes Limited. In the 
ensuing years, the company became a well-established 
manufacturer of popular sodas, including Pepsi-ColaTM, 
7UpTM and D&GTM soft drinks, and the distributor of the best 
imported spirits.

The award-winning Red Stripe Beer was first brewed in 1928 
and later perfected to the golden lager we know today.

Internationally, Red Stripe Beer has received the prestigious 
Monde Selection Gold Medal 11 times for its fine quality and 
taste.

Locally, Red Stripe has been recognised as a major player 
in the manufacturing industry, having received the Jamaica 
Exporters Association Champion Exporter award in 2010, 
2011, 2012 and 2013; The Jamaica Chamber of Commerce 
Best of Chamber Large Enterprise Award in 2015, and the
Jamaica Manufacturers Association Manufacturer of the 
Year Award in 2014 and 2016.

On October 7, 2015, HEINEKEN N.V. became the majority 
shareholder of Red Stripe. HEINEKEN owns more than 
165 breweries in more than 70 countries and employs 
approximately 76,000 people. Besides the flagship Heineken 
beer, Heineken brews and sells more than 250 other 
internationally premium, regional, local and specialty beers.

Red Stripe is the trading name of Desnoes and Geddes
Limited and is located at 214 Spanish Town Road, in
Kingston.

ABOUT
RED STRIPE
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RESULTS AT A GLANCE
FOR DESNOES AND GEDDES
LIMITED

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

December 2017 December 2016

Turnover 22,159,993 19,237,544

Profit before tax 3,912,394 4,078,762

Profit attributable to stockholders 3,108,636 3,350,827

Profit per stock unit (calculated on net profit attributable
to stockholders) 110.66¢ 119.28¢

Dividends per stock unit 55¢ 52¢

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 2,174,980 2,174,980

Capital and other reserves 1,423,629 1,423,629

Revenue reserves 11,678,697 9,516,605

TOTAL EQUITY 15,277,306 13,115,214

2017 ANNUAL REPORT
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TEN-YEAR
STATISTICAL SUMMARY

*Restated due to change in accounting treatment of returnable packaging       |      **Restated due to prior year adjustments.
***Restated due to the change in accounting treatment of certain items of PPE from Fair Value to Cost Measurement.

Financial Year January to
December 2017

January to
December 

2016

December 
2015
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

OPERATING DATA

Turnover 22,159,993 19,237,544 9,264,567 15,895,710 14,085,101 12,732,391 13,154,054 13,272,380 13,332,436 13,447,889 12,488,766 11,313,276 10,114,372

Profit before Taxation 3,912,394 4,078,762 1,944,119 2,834,445 3,676,908 1,871,325 1,455,176 1,510,060*** 1,206,388*** 2,211,442 1,670,350 2,093,226** 2,324,401

Provision for Taxation (803,758) (727,935) (363,087) (500,923) (523,745) (660,081) (225,619) (431,251) (392,976) (660,118) (627,901) (684,686)** (112,554)

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 3,108,636 3,350,827 1,581,032 2,333,522 3,153,163 1,211,244 1,229,558 1,078,809*** 813,412*** 1,551,323 1,042,449 1,408,540** 2,211,847

Dividend 1,545,044 1,461,100 927,026 1,123,668 1,404,586 846,752 561,834 702,293 983,208 1,123,668 1,488,860 1,601,227

Net Dividend Cover 2.01 2.29 1.71 2.08 2.24 1.43 2.19 1.16 1.58 0.93 0.95** 1.38

BALANCE SHEET DATA

Net Current Assets (Liabilities) 1,887,446 1,910,020 2,366,547 2,137,483 2,016,111 1,634,149 1,277,648 631,733 (415,922)*** (402,938)* (753,650)* 248,829 940,008

Property, Plant and Equipment 10,580,668 8,102,995 6,930,164 6,631,278 5,495,994 4,553,635 4,674,345 4,877,245*** 4,922,009 6,661,480* 6,531,660* 5,682,522 3,550,418

Stockholders’ Equity 15,277,306 13,115,214 10,968,987 10,333,881 9,010,627 7,670,794 7,235,015 6,631,458*** 5,273,395*** 6,246,636 6,332,871 6,537,303** 4,784,763

No. of Stock Units in Issue 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171 2,809,171

PER ORDINARY STOCK UNIT

Profit for the year 110.66¢ 119.28¢ 56.28¢ 83.07¢ 112.25¢ 43.12¢ 43.77¢ 38.40¢*** 28.96¢*** 55.22¢ 37.11¢ 50.14¢** 78.74¢

Stockhoders’ equity $5.44 $4.67 $3.90 $3.68 $3.21 $2.73 $2.58 $2.36*** $1.88*** $2.22 $2.25 $2.33** $1.70

Dividends

Ordinary - Interims 33¢ 27¢ 25¢ 10¢ 20¢ 25¢ 35¢ 40¢ 53¢ 57¢

Ordinary - Finals 55¢ 52¢ 13¢ 25¢ 20¢

OTHER

Return on Equity 20% 26% 14% 22.58% 34.99% 15.79% 16.99% 16.96%*** 15.42%*** 24.83% 16.46% 21.52%** 46.23%

Closing Stock Price $30.00 $7.55 $4.51 $4.80 $3.80 $3.30 $4.70 $4.00 $7.05 $7.05 $7.79

Number of employees 369 371 305 322 322 455 587 624 694 759 767 762 734
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING
FOR DESNOES & GEDDES LIMITED

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Ninety-Ninth Annual 
General Meeting of Desnoes & Geddes Limited (the “Company”) 
will be held at 214 Spanish Town Road, Kingston 11 on 
Wednesday, June 20, 2018 at 10:00 a.m. for the following 
purposes:

1.	 AUDITED ACCOUNTS FOR YEAR ENDED                
DECEMBER 31, 2017                                                                                                             
To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2017 together with the reports of 
the Directors and Auditors thereon. To consider and
(if thought fit) to pass the following ordinary resolution:

“THAT the Audited Financial Statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2017 together with the reports of 
the Directors and the Auditors thereon, be and are
hereby adopted.”

2.	 DECLARATION OF DIVIDEND
To declare the first interim dividends of $0.55 paid as
final for the year ended December 31, 2017.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following
ordinary resolution:

“THAT as recommended by the Directors, the interim 
dividend of $0.55 per stock unit paid November 30, 
2017 be and is hereby declared as final dividend for the 
year under review.

3.	 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
To fix the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors:  	
To consider and,(if thought fit) pass the following
ordinary resolution:

“THAT Directors’ fees in the amount of $6,170,000 
payable to all Non-Executive Directors of the Company 
during the year, be and are hereby approved.”

4.	 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
In accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s Articles 

of Incorporation, the directors retiring by rotation are
Mr. Eugene Ubalijoro and Mr. Peter Melhado who, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following
ordinary resolutions:

4(a) “THAT the retiring director Mr. Eugene Ubalijoro be 
and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

4(b) “THAT the retiring director Mr. Peter Melhado be 
and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

5.	 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
To fix the remuneration of the Auditors or to determine 
the manner in which such remuneration is to be fixed.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following
ordinary resolution:

“THAT KPMG, having signified their willingness to
continue to serve, continue in office as the Auditors
until the period ending with the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting, at a remuneration to be 
agreed with the Directors.”

	

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Gene M. Douglas
Corporate Secretary

Dated this 14th day of May 2018 

Any member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and 
on a poll, vote instead of the member. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.  
An appropriate form of proxy is enclosed.

The proxy form must be signed, stamped and deposited at the registered office of the 
Company situated at 214 Spanish Town Road, Kingston 11 addressed to “The Com-
pany Secretary” not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting. The 
stamp duty is $100.00 and may be paid by affixing a postage stamp to the proxy form.
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

RICHARD BYLES
Chairman

Mr. Richard O. Byles’ experience and expertise
span across the financial industry to include Life, Health
and General Insurance, Asset & Investment Management,
Banking, Pension Administration and Re-Insurance
Management. He is a member of the Executive Committee 
of Sagicor Financial Corporation, the parent company of
SLJ. Richard is the Chairman of Desnoes & Geddes Limited,
Sagicor Life of the Cayman Islands Ltd., Sagicor Bank
Jamaica Limited and director of Sagicor Investments
Jamaica Limited and PanJam Investment Limited. He is
also the former Co-chairman of Jamaica’s Economic
Programme Oversight Committee (EPOC).

CAROL BOURKE

Carol Bourke has 28 years of experience in the Hospitality 
& Tourism industry and currently serves as the Managing 
Director of the Hilton Rose Hall Resort. She has a passion for 
delivering consistently high levels of guest experiences while 
optimizing revenue and profit opportunities. Carol is also 
driven by the success of her team members and puts focus 
on people development and their career advancement.
Carol is a board member of the Jamaica Hotel and Tourist
Association and the Tourism Product Development
Company.

BRUCE KIDNER

Red Stripe’s Finance Director since 2014, Bruce joined the 
HEINEKEN Group of Companies in 2016 after more than
17 years with Diageo. His experience includes working in
the Diageo Africa region as Finance Director of Namibia
Breweries and Finance Director of Guinness Ghana
Breweries. He also held a number of other finance and
commercial finance roles within Diageo. Bruce is a

qualified Chartered Accountant gaining his qualification 
while working six years in a chartered accountancy practice
based in London. He gained his Bachelor of Science
with Honours in Economics & Business at Cardiff Business 
School, University of Wales.

RICARDO NUNCIO ARRATIA

Ricardo joined Red Stripe from HEINEKEN Mexico, the
biggest operating company of HEINEKEN where he served 
as the Regional Sales Director. In that capacity he gained
a wealth of experience in trade marketing, sales, project
management and financial management. Ricardo holds
a Global MBA for Latin American Managers, from the
American Graduate School of International Management 
and a BSc in Chemical Engineering with a minor in
Administration.

PETER MELHADO

Peter Melhado is the President and CEO of the ICD Group,
a Jamaican-based conglomerate with interests in real estate, 
construction, property management, general insurance and 
business process outsourcing. Peter currently serves as
Chairman of Sagicor Bank Jamaica, West Indies Home 
Contractors, Industrial Chemical Company, CGM Gallagher 
Group, Kingston Container Terminal and American
International School of Kingston. His current directorships 
include British Caribbean Insurance Company, Red Stripe, 
Sagicor Investments Jamaica and Port Authority of Jamaica. 
He is a former Vice President of the Private Sector
Organization of Jamaica. Peter holds an B.Sc. in Mechanical 
Engineering from McGill University and a MBA from
Columbia University Graduate School of Business, with
a concentration in Finance.

OUR TEAM
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RICHARD PANDOHIE

Richard Pandohie is the current CEO of Seprod Limited, 
the largest food manufacturing entity in Jamaica. He is 
a graduate of the University of the West Indies with a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering. As a 
Commonwealth Scholar, he completed a Master of Business 
Administration Degree in Corporate Finance and Operations 
from McGill University in Canada. He started his professional 
career in engineering at Alcan Limited and over the years 
has moved to management. Among his senior appointments 
were Country Manager for Coca-Cola (Jamaica) Limited, 
Managing Director at IGL Limited, Managing Director at 
Carreras Limited. He is the Deputy President of the Jamaica 
Manufacturers’ Association.

HEMMO PARSON

Hemmo Parson is of Dutch nationality and has worked at 
the head office of HEINEKEN in Amsterdam since 2003. 
He has general legal responsibility over the HEINEKEN 
operations in the Americas region and is a member of the 

Americas Leadership Team. He is also a board member of 
Surinaamse Brouwerij N.V. Before joining HEINEKEN, he 
worked as an attorney at Allen & Overy LLP and Loeff Claeys 
Verbeke in Amsterdam.

EUGENE UBALIJORO

Eugene Ubalijoro is a Rwandan national and has been with 
HEINEKEN for 25 years. He currently serves as the Managing 
Director, HEINEKEN Caribbean and Americas Exports and
is based in Miami. Eugene has held several senior leadership 
positions with HEINEKEN in Rwanda, USA, France and The 
Netherlands. He has an MBA from the Universite de
Sherbrooke in Quebec, Canada and is fluent in French,
English and Kinyarwanda (mother tongue).

10   |   Desnoes & Geddes Annual Report 2017
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MANAGEMENT
TEAM

RICARDO NUNCIO ARRATIA
Managing Director

Ricardo joined Red Stripe from HEINEKEN Mexico, the
biggest operating company of HEINEKEN, where he served 
as the Regional Sales Director. In that capacity, he gained
a wealth of experience in trade marketing, sales, project
management and financial management. Ricardo holds
a Global MBA for Latin American Managers, from the
American Graduate School of International Management 
and a BSc in Chemical Engineering with a minor in
Administration.

DIANNE ASHTON-SMITH
Head of Corporate Affairs

Dianne is a corporate relations practitioner with close
to 20 years’ experience. She joined Red Stripe in 2008
as Communications Manager. Under her leadership, the 
company has enrolled just under 12,000 Jamaicans in its 
award-winning Learning for Life programme, consistently 
exceeding our year-on-year targets. In 2013, Dianne joined 
the Red Stripe Executive team as Head of Corporate
Relations, now Corporate Affairs. She holds a Bachelor of 
Arts (Honours) in Literature & Economics from the University 
of the West Indies and a Master of Science degree in Human 
Resources Management from the Milano School of
International Affairs, Management, and Urban Policy at 
The New School. She is also a Board Member and Company 
Secretary for the D&G Foundation, a Director of the Jamaica 
Chamber of Commerce and an adjunct lecturer in Career 
Development at the Mona School of Business, U.W.I.

MELVERINE HEMMINGS
Head of Human Resources

Melverine joined Red Stripe in March 2001 and since then 
has held a number of senior roles within the HR function.
In 2007 she was seconded to Diageo International as

Resourcing Manager and in April 2013 she was seconded
to Celebration Brands Ltd. as Human Resource and
Communications Director. During that time she played
a critical role in developing the newly formed joint venture. 
Her most significant achievements include the recruitment 
of over 400 staff members in an eight-month period and the 
selection of key third-party suppliers for contract labour and 
employee benefits. Melverine also led the implementation 
of a number of key HR processes and procedures within the 
new organisation. In March 2014, Marie returned to Red 
Stripe as Head of Human Resources and is a member of the 
Executive team. She holds a Master of Science (MSc.) in
Human Resource Development (1999), from the University 
of the West Indies, Mona.

DIANE WILLIS-REID
Administrative & Special Projects Manager

Diane joined Red Stripe in 1995 as an Administrative
Assistant and a year later was appointed Executive
Assistant to the President. Since then Diane has worked
with successive Managing Directors and has been a key
contributor to the Red Stripe Executive team through her 
expertise in business operations, culture transformation 
and project management. Due to her profound institutional 
knowledge, Diane brought rounded insights to the
Executive team and became an official member in 2010.
She is credited with establishing the first-ever records and 
information management business unit and service centre 
within Diageo Latin America and Caribbean region. In 2014 
Diane led major transformational projects, including the
inaugural Employee Conference and phase one of Red 
Stripe’s office rationalisation.

BLANDINE JNPAUL-REID
Head of Marketing & Innovation

Blandine joined Red Stripe in October 2014 as Head of 
Marketing and Innovation. In her role, she shapes and leads 

OUR TEAM
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strategic and tactical marketing, global and regional brand 
positioning for Red Stripe, across all international
markets including the Caribbean and Latin America. She 
drives the full spectrum of strategic marketing, including 
branding, pricing, share growth strategy and financial
performance as well as develops activation mechanics for 
a six-brand portfolio of beers, RTDs and spirits, including 
SmirnoffTM, Johnnie WalkerTM, CirocTM, GuinnessTM, Heineken 
and BaileysTM.

BRUCE KIDNER
Finance Director

Red Stripe’s Finance Director since 2014, Bruce joined the 
HEINEKEN Group of Companies in 2016 after more than
17 years with Diageo. His experience includes working in
the Diageo Africa region as Finance Director of Namibia
Breweries and Finance Director of Guinness Ghana
Breweries. He also held a number of other finance and
commercial finance roles within Diageo. Bruce is a
qualified Chartered Accountant, gaining his qualification 
while working six years in a chartered accountancy practice 
based in London. He gained his Bachelor of Science
(Honours) in Economics & Business at Cardiff Business 
School, University of Wales.

MOSES WILLIAMS
Head of Sales

Moses joined Red Stripe in July 2006 and since then has
held a number of senior roles within Sales.
In 2013 he was seconded to Celebration Brands Ltd. as
National Sales Manager – Modern Trade. During that time 
he played a critical role in the recruitment and leadership 
of the Modern Trade team while actively contributing to 
the implementation of the overall business strategy. In May 
2015, Moses was appointed Head of Commercial Transfor-
mation and a member of the Executive team. He holds a 
Bachelor of Science (BSc.), Business Administration (2003)
from Northern Caribbean University.

JEAN LOOK TONG
Head of Red Stripe International

Jean joined Red Stripe in February 2014 and has over
10 years’ senior leadership experience in areas such as
business development, strategy, sales, marketing and
corporate affairs in Jamaica and the wider Caribbean. Her 
career has spanned a variety of industry sectors, most 
notably telecommunications and cable television. Jean was 
a member of the team that created the telecommunications 
brand ‘Flow’ and was instrumental in launching and building 
the business. She holds a BSc. degree with First Class
Honours in Management Studies, an MBA with Distinction 
from the University of the West Indies and project
management certification.

NIKO VAN CAUWENBERGE 
Head of Supply

In the position as Supply Chain Director at Red Stripe, Niko 
has embedded the Heineken ways of working to consistently 
improve productivity and efficiency, optimize capacity and 
volumes, as well as focus on driving a culture of safety 
and perrformance. Niko joined HEINEKEN in 2008 and 
has built extensive experience in several roles in Brewing 
both in and outside of Heineken. He came to us directly 
from Windward & Leeward Brewery in St. Lucia where he 
was the Supply Chain Manager. He successfully pushed an 
aggressive innovations strategy and integrated the Coca 
Cola operation into Heineken’s Supply Chain operations.  
Prior to that, Niko worked in Heineken Netherlands as Team 
leader Brewing Process Engineer and Brewing Specialist.
Niko holds a Masters in Industrial Engineering Biochemistry 
with Specialisation in Brewery and fermentation (1996-
1999 Hogeschool Gent, Campus CTL-BME). Niko is a Belgian 
national and is fluent in several languages including Dutch, 
his native language, English, German and French.

OUR TEAM
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2017 HIGHLIGHTS

OPERATIONAL & BRAND EXPERIENCES
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MANAGING
DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Red Stripe continued to make steady progress in 2017 towards shifting the dial to a high-performance culture, with
considerable investment in training at all levels and leadership a central focus. Our flagship brand performed well, driven
primarily by the exponential growth of Red Stripe flavours. While export volumes performed well, overall domestic sales, though
experiencing growth, lagged behind target. The innovation pipeline churned out Malta Ginger Ginseng and Inj!n Bitters, which 
created excitement in the market and provided new engagement with consumers.

Continued improvements in efficiency came with the implementation of the enterprise resource planning (ERP) system, which 
essentially upgraded our SAP aligning to the HEINEKEN system, and will lead to automation and simplification. In keeping with 
that strategy, the company also pursued other projects that set the foundation for growth and delivery of the 2020 ambition.

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
(Full year January – December 2017 vs 2016)

Trading Profit of $3,388 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 declined by 15% 
over the same period last year and this was 
primarily  attributable to the adverse impact 
of higher Cost of Goods sold.

Profit after tax of $3,109 million was 7%
lower than 2016 and this was driven mainly
by the lower Trading Profit and partially offset 
by the surplus on the curtailment of the med-
ical and defined pension benefit scheme of 
$557 million. 

2016
3,977

2017

TRADING PROFIT & OPERATING MARGIN

PROFIT AFTER TAX & EARNINGS PER SHARE

3,3512016

3,1092017

$1.06 $1.20Earnings per share

3,388
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2017 ANNUAL REPORT

REVENUE
There was Net sales of $18,512 million,
representing an increase of 16% over the 
same period last year. This increase was
driven primarily by increased volumes of 
some products in our portfolio, price increas-
es taken during the year and the full-year 
impact of the Export volumes in 2017 (US 
volumes started September 2016). Export 
volumes increased by 133% compared to 
2016.

COST OF SALES

Cost of Sales for the year was $11, 377 
million, which represents a growth of 26% 
over the previous year due to increased 
production, for domestic and export volume 
and higher operational expenses. Higher 
COG/hls was impacted by an increase in one-
way packaging  due to the growth in export 
volume; higher than planned demurrage 
resulting from lack of storage capacity for 
materials; and an increase in haulage and 
freight costs.

MARKETING

Marketing costs increased by 3% to $1,418 
million over the same period last year. 
There were increased brand investments as-
sociated with Heineken UCL Trophy Tour, RIO 
and Sunnation; Red Stripe Premier League; 
Malta Back-to-School Promotions sponsor-
ships; and Smirnoff Ice Carnival activations.  
We also continued our investment in our Cer-
tified Bar programme, which is a mechanism 
to embed excellent outlet execution in our 
traditional trade outlets, such as right price 
and right serve.

OVERHEADS

34% increase in General, Selling and
Administrative expenses to $2,189 million 
for the year was primarily driven by higher 
personnel expenses related to restructuring 
payments and pension expenses associated 
with the transitioning from Defined Benefit 
scheme to a Defined Contribution plan.

15,911

20
17

20
16

18,512

NET SALES

16%
2013

35%
2014

23%
2015

14%
Dec. 2015

26%
2016

25%
2017

RETURN ON EQUITY

DIVIDEND PER SHARE

CAPITAL INVESTMENT

$0.30

$0.50

$0.40

$0.33

$0.52
$0.55

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017Dec. 2015

647 | 2013

1721 | 2014

2050 | 2015

3469 | 2016

3708 | 2017

810 | DEC. 2015
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2017 ANNUAL REPORT

BALANCE SHEET AND CASH FLOW

The balance sheet closed with a cash balance of $953
million, $41 million higher than last year. The increase out-
flow was attributable to capital investment of $3,708 million 
and an interim dividend payout of $1,545 million. The divi-
dend payment was 55 cents per share.

The full-year Shareholders’ equity of $15,277 million for
the year December 31, 2017 grew by 16% and resulted in
a shareholders’ equity per stock unit of $5.44.

OUTLOOK

With the foundations laid in 2017, Red Stripe is poised for 
exponential growth in 2018. New systems coupled with a 
sound data-driven strategy have positioned the business to 
not only achieve targets, but also set us on a definitive path 
to realize the 2020 ambition. In 2018, we plan to place laser- 
sharp focus on:

•   Leadership and Culture

•   Securing the supply chain

•   Delivering savings for the business

•   Building a winning portfolio

•   Improving sales execution

In addition to those business imperatives, we will continue to 
passionately pursue our corporate and sustainability agenda 
to defend our commercial freedoms while making more 
meaningful contributions in the community.

Ricardo Nuncio Arratia
Managing Director

OUR
BRANDS
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LIQUEFIED NATURAL GAS (LNG) PROJECT

ENTERPRISE RESOURCE
PLANNING (ERP) SYSTEM
An upgrade of our general 
IT system to the integrated 
information system used by 
HEINEKEN that captures 
data from across all 
business processes

Investment
- US$1.6m

BENEFITS

Drive Cost Efficiencies
Better Commercial Insights
for Decision Making

Greater Visibility
of the Business

More Cost Effective
Production

Savings - US$336k/pa

Investment - US$400k
CO2 Reduction - 6000 tonnes

Increase in Electrical
Power Output - 30%

Overall Reduction in Fuel
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DIRECTORS’
REPORT

The Directors are pleased to submit their Report and Audited 
Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2017.

DIVIDENDS
The Directors have recommended that the interim dividends 
of $0.55 paid to stockholders on 30 November 2017 be de-
clared as final dividend for the year ended 31 December 
2017. No further dividend was recommended.

THE BOARD
Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Incorporation of the 
Company, one-third of the Directors or the number nearest to 
one-third, where their number is not a multiple of three, shall 
retire from office each year. Mr. Eugene Ubalijoro and Mr. Pe-
ter Melhado will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election.

The Directors of the Board as at December 31, 2017
comprised:

Mr. Richard O. Byles Chairman
Mr. Ricardo Nuncio Arratia Managing Director

Mrs. Carol Bourke

Mr. Bruce Kidner

Mr. Peter K. Melhado

Mr. Richard Pandohie

Mr. Hemmo Parson

Mr. Eugene Ubalijoro

AUDITORS
Messrs. KPMG, the present Auditors, have indicated their will-
ingness to continue in office and offer themselves for re-elec-
tion.

The Directors wish to express their appreciation to the man-
agement and staff for the work they have done during the 
year.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Gene M. Douglas
Corporate Secretary

Dated this 14th day of May 2018

Dec 2017
($Million)

Dec 2016
($Million)

The profit of the Company 
before tax was 3,912 4,079

Net Profit of the Company 
after tax was 3,107 3,351



DESNOES & GEDDES LIMITED

Desnoes & Geddes Annual Report 2017  |   20

SHAREHOLDINGS

SHAREHOLDERS STOCKS HELD OWNERSHIP (%)

1.  Heineken Beverages Switzerland AG* 2,691,892,739 95.83
2.  Bacardi Limited 84,255,986 3.00
3.  Caribbean Development Company Ltd. 2,550,430 0.09
4.  Estate KL Davidson 1,262,240 0.04
5.  Estate Egbert Comm Ser Chin YC Yee 1,051,843 0.04
6.  Roy Johnston 934,942 0.03
7.  Eunice A Browne (DEC’D) 841,448 0.03
8.  Estate Altamont E Dacosta 631,051 0.02
9.  Republic Bank Limited A/C 3240-01 307,800 0.01
10.  Silburn Clarke 307,800 0.01

TOTAL TOP TEN SHAREHOLDINGS 2,784,036,279 99.11
REMAINING SHAREHOLDINGS 25,133,915 0.89

TOTAL ISSUED SHARES 2,809,170,194 100.00
TOTAL NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS 1,728

NAME NO. OF UNITS

Richard O. Byles (Chairman) Nil
Ricardo Nuncio Arratia (Managing Director) Nil
Carol M. Bourke Nil
Eugene Ubalijoro Nil
Bruce Anthony Kidner Nil
Ricardo Rohan Pandohie Nil
Peter K. Melhado Nil
Hemmo Parson Nil

COMPANY SECRETARY NO. OF UNITS
Gene M. Douglas Nil

NAME NO. OF UNITS

Ricardo Nuncio Arratia Nil
Dianne Ashton-Smith Nil
Jean Look Tong Nil
Bruce Anthony Kidner Nil
Diane Willis-Reid Nil
Blandine JN Paul-Reid Nil
Melverine Hemmings Nil
David Ragot Nil
Moses Williams Nil

10 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS
SHAREHOLDINGS OF SENIOR
MANAGERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

*Connected Parties

GM: sg
2018 March 6
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CORPORATE
DATA

CORPORATE DATA  -  31 DECEMBER 2017

 Board of Directors

 Richard O. Byles (Chairman)
 Ricardo Nuncio Arratia (Managing Director)
 Carol M. Bourke
 Bruce Kidner
 Peter K. Melhado
 Hemmo Parson
 Richard Pandohie
 Eugene Ubalijoro

 Company Secretary  Gene M. Douglas, F.C.I.S., M.B.A.

 Registrar & Transfer Agent
 Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited
 Group Legal, Trust & Corporate Services,
 28-48 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5

 Auditors
 KPMG
 6 Duke Street,
 Kingston

 Bankers

 Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Ltd.
 Corner Duke & Port Royal Streets,
 Kingston

 Citibank NA
 19 Hillcrest Avenue
 Kingston 6

 National Commercial Bank Jamaica Ltd.
 37 Duke Street,
 Kingston

 Attorneys-at-Law

 Patterson Mair Hamilton
 Temple Court
 85 Hope Road,
 Kingston 6

 Myers Fletcher & Gordon
 21 East Street,
 Kingston

 Registered Office  214 Spanish Town Road
 Kingston 11
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DIRECTOR’S
ATTENDANCE REGISTER

NUMBER OF MEETINGS HELD BOARD (5) AGM (1)

Richard O. Byles 5 1

Ricardo Nuncio Arratia 5 1

Bruce Kidner 5 1

Carol Bourke 5 1

Hemmo Parson 4 0

Ricardo Pandohie 5 1

Eugene Ubalijoro 5 0

Peter Melhado 5 1

Five (5) meetings were held during the year – 4 regular meetings and 1 special meeting, plus the AGM.
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AUDITED
FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Income Statement 
December 31, 2017 
 
 
  Notes 2017 2016
   $’000 $’000 
 
Gross sales  17 22,159,993     19,237,544  
Special Consumption Tax  (  3,647,844) (  3,326,044)  

Net sales  18,512,149 15,911,500  
Cost of sales 18(a) (11,376,601) (  9,020,375)  

Gross profit   7,135,548 6,891,125  
Marketing costs 18(a) (  1,418,269) (  1,372,238)  

Contribution after marketing costs  5,717,279 5,518,887  
General, selling and administration expenses 18(a) (  2,188,559) (  1,635,004)  
Other income/(expense), net  (     191,922)        93,227  

Trading profit   3,336,798 3,977,110  

Finance income – interest   41,593 15,317  
Share of proft in joint venture  4 40,554 69,173  
Fair value gain on investment property 5 -       105,150  
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (       63,551) (       75,988)  
Pension and medical benefits expense, net 8(d)      557,000 (       12,000)  

Profit before taxation 18(b)   3,912,394 4,078,762  
Taxation 19 (     803,758) (     727,935)  

Profit for the year    3,108,636   3,350,827  

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



DESNOES & GEDDES LIMITED

Desnoes & Geddes Annual Report 2017  |   30

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
December 31, 2017  
 
 
 
 Notes 2017 2016 
  $’000 $’000 
 
Profit for the year  3,108,636 3,350,827  
 
Other comprehensive income: 

Item that may not be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Remeasurement of employee benefits asset/obligation 8(e) 798,000 342,000  
Deferred taxation on employee benefits asset/obligation 16 (   199,500) (     85,500)  

      598,500    256,500  

Total comprehensive income for the year  3,707,136 3,607,327  
 
 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
December 31, 2017  
 
 
 
 Share Capital Other Retained  
 capital reserves reserves earnings Total 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 (Note 13) (Note 14) (Note 15)   
 
 
Balances at December 31, 2015 2,174,980 378,129    779,250   7,636,628 10,968,987 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year: 

Profit for the year         -              -               -          3,350,827   3,350,827 
 
 Other comprehensive income: 

Remeasurement of employee benefits asset/ 
 obligation          -              -               -        342,000 342,000 
Deferred taxation on employee benefits asset/ 
 obligation         -              -               -        (       85,500) (       85,500) 

Total other comprehensive income         -              -               -             256,500      256,500 

Total comprehensive income         -              -               -          3,607,327   3,607,327 
 
Movement within equity: 
 Transfer to pension equalisation reserve         -              -          266,250 (     266,250)          -          
 
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity 
 Dividends (note 20)         -              -               -        (  1,461,100) (  1,461,100) 
 
Balances at December 31, 2016 2,174,980 378,129 1,045,500   9,516,605 13,115,214 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year: 

Profit for the year         -              -               -          3,108,636   3,108,636 
 
 Other comprehensive income: 

Remeasurement of employee benefits asset/ 
 obligation          -              -               -        798,000 798,000 
Deferred taxation on employee benefits asset/ 
 obligation         -              -               -        (     199,500) (     199,500) 

Total other comprehensive income         -              -               -             598,500      598,500 

Total comprehensive income         -              -               -          3,707,136   3,707,136 
 
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity 
 Dividends (note 20)         -              -               -        (  1,545,044) (  1,545,044) 
 
Balances at December 31, 2017 2,174,980 378,129 1,045,500 11,678,697 15,277,306 
 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



DESNOES & GEDDES LIMITED

Desnoes & Geddes Annual Report 2017  |   32

 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended December 31, 2017 
 
 
 Notes 2017 2016 
  $’000 $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities 
 Profit for the year   3,108,636    3,350,827 

Adjustments for: 
Share of profit in joint venture 4 (      40,554) (      69,173) 
Fair value gain on investment properties  5        -         (   105,150) 
Depreciation  6 1,136,795 1,009,262 
Amortisation 7 249,773 242,279 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 63,551 75,988 
Pension and medical benefits expense, net 8(d) (   557,000)      12,000 
Finance income - interest (     41,593) (     15,317) 
Taxation           19    803,758    727,935 

 4,723,366 5,228,651 
 

 Changes in: 
Accounts receivable (   322,936) (   629,713)  
Due from related entities  25,026 (1,813,989)  
Inventories (   362,958) (   302,445)  
Accounts payable 490,682 1,381,441  
Due to related entities     319,779 1,279,691  

Cash generated from operations 4,872,959 5,143,636  
Pension contributions and medical benefits paid (     15,000) (     25,000)  
Employer withdrawal from pension surplus 1,370,000         -          

Income taxes paid (   975,235) (1,080,040)  

   Net cash provided by operating activities 5,252,724 4,038,596  
 

Cash flows from investing activities 
 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 6 (3,708,303) (2,258,081)  
 Acquistion of intangible assets 7 -       (1,211,396) 
 Interest received      41,593      14,236  

   Net cash used in investing activities (3,666,710) (3,455,241)  
 
Cash flows from financing activity 
 Dividends paid, being net cash used in financing activity (1,545,044) (1,461,100)  

Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  40,970 (   877,745)   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     911,888 1,789,633  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     952,858    911,888  

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended December 31, 2017 
 
 
 Notes 2017 2016 
  $’000 $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities 
 Profit for the year   3,108,636    3,350,827 

Adjustments for: 
Share of profit in joint venture 4 (      40,554) (      69,173) 
Fair value gain on investment properties  5        -         (   105,150) 
Depreciation  6 1,136,795 1,009,262 
Amortisation 7 249,773 242,279 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 63,551 75,988 
Pension and medical benefits expense, net 8(d) (   557,000)      12,000 
Finance income - interest (     41,593) (     15,317) 
Taxation           19    803,758    727,935 

 4,723,366 5,228,651 
 

 Changes in: 
Accounts receivable (   322,936) (   629,713)  
Due from related entities  25,026 (1,813,989)  
Inventories (   362,958) (   302,445)  
Accounts payable 490,682 1,381,441  
Due to related entities     319,779 1,279,691  

Cash generated from operations 4,872,959 5,143,636  
Pension contributions and medical benefits paid (     15,000) (     25,000)  
Employer withdrawal from pension surplus 1,370,000         -          

Income taxes paid (   975,235) (1,080,040)  

   Net cash provided by operating activities 5,252,724 4,038,596  
 

Cash flows from investing activities 
 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 6 (3,708,303) (2,258,081)  
 Acquistion of intangible assets 7 -       (1,211,396) 
 Interest received      41,593      14,236  

   Net cash used in investing activities (3,666,710) (3,455,241)  
 
Cash flows from financing activity 
 Dividends paid, being net cash used in financing activity (1,545,044) (1,461,100)  

Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  40,970 (   877,745)   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     911,888 1,789,633  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     952,858    911,888  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2017  
 
 
1. Identification 
 
 Desnoes & Geddes Limited (“the company”), is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica and is a 

subsidiary of Heineken Beverages Switzerland AG. Effective October 7, 2015, the ultimate 
parent company is Heineken N.V, incorporated in the Netherlands. The company’s registered 
office is located at 214 Spanish Town Road, Kingston 11. The principal activities of the 
company comprise the brewing, bottling and distribution of beers, stouts and spirits.  

  
Effective October 7, 2015, Heineken Sweden AB (formerly Udium Holdings AB), which held 
58% of the company’s stock units, was acquired by Heineken International B.V., a subsidiary 
of Heineken N.V.  In addition,  the company’s stock units held directly by Diageo PLC were 
acquired by Heineken International B.V., thereby giving Heineken International B.V. control of 
73.3% of the company’s stock units.  Subsequent to the acquisition, a takeover bid offer was 
made by Heineken Sweden AB on January 21, 2016, which resulted in Heineken International 
B.V. having an increased control of 95.78%.  On May 2, 2016, the ownership of the company 
was transferred from Heineken Sweden AB to Heineken Beverage Switzerland AG. 

 
 The number of employees at December 31, 2017 was 369 (2016: 371). 
 
 
2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation 

 
(a) Statement of compliance 
 
 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Jamaican Companies Act.  
 

Certain new and amended standards became effective for the current financial year. Their 
adoption did not result in any change in accounting policies and did not have any effect 
on the amounts recognised and disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
 
The company has assessed the relevance of new standards, amendments to standards, and 
interpretations issued but not yet effective at the reporting date and have not been early 
adopted, and has concluded as follows: 

 
(i) Amendments to IAS 40, Investment Property, effective for accounting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018, required an entity to transfer to property to, 
or from, investment property when and only when, there is evidence of a change in 
use.  A change of use occurs, if property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of 
investment property.  A change in management’s intentions for the use of a 
property by itself does not constitute evidence of a change in use. 

 
The company is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2018 
financial statements. 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2017  
 
 

 

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(a) Statement of compliance (continued) 
 

New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
(continued) 
 

(ii) IFRS 15, Revenue From Contracts With Customers, effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, replaces IAS 11, Construction 
Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, 
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from 
Customers and SIC-31 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services. It does not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease 
contracts, which fall in the scope of other IFRSs. It also does not apply if two 
entities in the same line of business exchange non-monetary assets to facilitate 
sales to other parties.  

The company will apply a five-step model to determine when to recognise 
revenue, and at what amount. The model specifies that revenue should be 
recognised when (or as) an entity transfers control of goods or services to a 
customer at the amount to which the entity expects to be entitled. Depending on 
whether certain criteria are met, revenue is recognised at a point in time, when 
control of goods or services is transferred to the customer; or over time, in a 
manner that best reflects the entity’s performance. 

There will be new qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements to describe 
the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from 
contracts with customers. 

The company is assessing the impact that the standard will have on its 2018 
financial statements. 

 
(iii) IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is effective for annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised 
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, 
including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment of financial 
assets and the new general hedge accounting requirements.  It also carries forward 
the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 
39. Although the permissible measurement bases for financial assets – amortised 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value 
though profit or loss (FVTPL) - are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification 
into the appropriate measurement category are significantly different.  IFRS 9 
replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model, 
which means that a loss event will no longer need to occur before an impairment 
allowance is recognised.   

The company is assessing the impact that the standard will have on its financial 
2018 statements.

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2017

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 

(a) Statement of compliance (continued) 
 

New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
(continued) 
 

(iv) IFRIC 23, Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments, is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is 
permitted. IFRIC 23 clarifies the accounting for income tax treatments that have 
yet to be accepted by tax authorities is to be applied to the determination of taxable 
profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, 
when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12. 

An entity has to consider whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority 
would accept the tax treatment, or group of tax treatments, that is adopted in its 
income tax filing.If the entity concludes that it is probable that the tax authority 
will accept a particular tax treatment in the tax return, the entity will determine 
taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits or tax rates 
consistently with the tax treatment included in its income tax filings and record the 
same amount in the financial statements. The entity will disclose uncertainty.  

If the entity concludes that it is not probable that a particular tax treatment will be 
accepted, the entity has to use the most likely amount or the expected value of the 
tax treatment when determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax 
losses, unused tax credits and tax rates. The decision should be based on which 
method provides better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.If facts and 
circumstances change, the entity is required to reassess the judgements and 
estimates applied. IFRIC 23 reinforces the need to comply with existing disclosure 
requirements regarding: 

- judgements made in the process of applying accounting policy to determine 
taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax 
rates; 

- assumptions and other estimates used; and 
- potential impact of uncertainties that are not reflected in the financial 

statements. 

The company is assessing the impact that the interpretation will have on its 2019 
financial statements. 

(v) IFRS 16, Leases, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2019, eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, 
which distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet 
operating leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that 
is similar to current finance lease accounting. Entities will be required to bring all 
major leases on-balance sheet, recognising new assets and liabilities. The on-
balance sheet liability will attract interest; the total lease expense will be higher in 
the early years of a lease even if a lease has fixed regular cash rentals. Optional 
lessee exemption will apply to short- term leases and for low-value items with 
value of US$5,000 or less. 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2017  
 
 
2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 

 

(a) Statement of compliance (continued) 
 

New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
(continued) 
 

(v) IFRS 16, Leases (continued) 
 

Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue 
to classify leases as finance and operating leases.  
 

The company is assessing the impact that the standard will have on its 2019 
financial statements. 

 

(vi) IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration, effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, addresses 
how to determine the transaction date when an entity recognises a non-monetary 
asset or liability (e.g. non-refundable advance consideration in a foreign 
currency) before recognising the related asset, expense or income. It is not 
applicable when an entity measures the related asset, expense or income or initial 
recognition at fair value or at the fair value of the consideration paid or received 
at the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary asset or liability.  
An entity is not required to apply this interpretation to income taxes or insurance 
contracts that it issues or reinsurance contracts held. 

The interpretation clarifies that the transaction date is the date on which the 
company initially recognises the prepayment or deferred income arising from the 
advance consideration. For transactions involving multiple payments or receipts, 
each payment or receipt gives rise to a separate transaction date. 

The company is assessing the impact that this interpretation will have on its 2019 
financial statements. 

 

(vii) Amendments to IAS 28, Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures, effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1,2019, addresses equity-accounted 
loss absorption by long-term interests.  It will affect companies that finance 
associates and joint ventures with preference shares or with loans for which 
repayment is not expected in the foreseeable future (referred to as long-term 
interests) and involves the dual application of IAS 28 and IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments. The company is required to apply both IFRS 9 and IAS 28 in a 
three-step annual process: 

1. Apply IFRS 9 independently - prior years’ IAS 28 loss absorption is 
ignored. 

2. If necessary, prior years’ IAS 28 loss allocation is trued-up in the current 
year, because the IFRS 9 carrying value may have changed. 

3. Any current year IAS 28 losses are allocated to the extent that the remaining 
long-term interests balance allows. Any unrecognised prior years’ losses are 
reversed by current year IAS 28 profits. 

The company is assessing the impact that the amendment will have on its 2019 
financial statements.
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2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(b) Basis of measurement 
 
 The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except as follows: 
 

- biological assets are measured at fair value less cost to sell; 

- investment properties are carried at fair value; 

- the employee-benefit asset is recognised as plan assets, less the present value of the 
defined-benefit obligation, and is restricted as explained in note 3(d); and 

 

- the defined-benefit liability is the present value of the unfunded obligation. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in Jamaica dollars, which is the company’s 
functional currency.  All financial information presented has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand, unless otherwise indicated. 

 
(d) Use of estimates and judgments 

 
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies, the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then 
ended. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised, if the 
revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision and future years if the 
revision affects current and future years. 

The significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements are disclosed below: 

 
(i) Pension and other post-employment benefits 

 
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position, income statement and 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for pension and other 
post-employment benefits are determined actuarially using several assumptions. The 
primary assumptions used in determining the amounts recognised include the 
discount rate used to determine the present value of estimated future cash flows 
required to settle the pension and other post-retirement obligations and the expected 
rate of increase in medical costs for post-retirement medical benefits. 
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2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments (continued) 
 

(ii) Pension and other post-employment benefits (continued) 
 

The discount rate is determined based on the estimated yield on long-term 
government securities that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the 
company’s obligation.  In the absence of such instruments in Jamaica, it has been 
necessary to estimate the rate by extrapolating from the longest-tenure security on 
the market. The estimate of expected rate of increase in medical costs is determined 
based on inflationary factors. Any changes in assumptions will impact the amounts 
recorded in the financial statements for these obligations. 

 
(iii) Allowance for impairment losses on accounts receivable 

 
In determining amounts recorded for impairment losses in the financial statements, 
management makes judgments regarding indicators of impairment, that is, whether 
there are indicators that there may be a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from receivables, for example, due to default or adverse economic 
conditions. Management also makes estimates of the likely estimated future cash 
flows from impaired receivables as well as the timing of such cash flows. 

 
(iv) Net realisable value of inventories 

 
Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence available at 
the time the estimates are made, of the amount the inventories are expected to 
realise.  These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of price or cost directly 
relating to events occurring after the reporting date to the extent that such events 
confirm conditions existing as at that date. Estimates of net realisable value also take 
into consideration the purpose for which the inventory is held. 
 

(v) Determination of fair values 
 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the company uses market 
observable data as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a 
fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows: 

 
•  Level 1 – Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical 

assets or liability. 
 

• Level 2 – Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments 
valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; 
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered 
less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are 
directly or indirectly observable from market data. 
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2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 

 
(d) Use of estimates and judgments (continued) 

 
(vi) Determination of fair values (continued) 

 
� Level 3 – Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This 

category includes all instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs 
not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect 
on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued 
based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable 
adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the 
instruments. 
 

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, 
comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist and other 
valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-
free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premia used in estimating 
discount rates. 

 
Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to arrive at estimates of 
fair values. Consequently, the estimates arrived at may be significantly different from 
the actual price of the instrument in an arm’s length transaction. 

 
Where the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are not 
measured at fair value, and those carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of 
fair value, fair value information including amounts and levels in the fair value 
hierarchy is not disclosed (note 23). 

 
(vii) Investment properties 

 
Investment properties reflect fair value amounts, based on market information, 
including valuations done by external independent valuators. On the instructions of 
management, the valuators have used valuation techniques such as the direct sales 
comparison approach, income approach and cost approach to determine fair value as 
detailed in note 5.  
 
 

3. Significant accounting policies 
 

(a) Joint arrangements 
 

Joint arrangements are arrangements in which the company has joint control, established 
by contracts requiring unanimous consent for decisions about the activities that 
significantly affect the investee’s returns.  
 
The company accounts for its interest in joint venture on the equity method, as the 
company has rights to the net assets of the venture, which is established as a separate legal 
entity from the investors.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(b) Investment properties 
 

Investment properties are measured at fair value determined annually by an independent 
registered valuator or by management, using available market information (note 5). Fair 
value is based on current prices in an active market for similar properties in similar 
locations and condition. Any gain or loss arising from changes in fair value is recognised 
in profit or loss.  

 
(c) Property, plant and equipment 
 

(i) Cost 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use. 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 
capitalised as part of that equipment.  
 
The company recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the cost of replacing part of such an item when that cost is incurred, if it 
is probable that the future economic benefits embodied with the item will flow to the 
company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-
day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred. 
 
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, 
they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

(ii) Depreciation 

Property, plant and equipment, with the exception of freehold land and construction 
in progress, on which no depreciation is charged, are depreciated on the straight-line 
basis at annual rates to write down the carrying value of each asset to its estimated 
residual value over the year of its expected useful life and is recognised in profit or 
loss. Annual depreciation rates are as follows: 

 Buildings  2%-2½% 
 Plant and equipment  2%-20½% 
 Furniture, fixtures and computer equipment 25% 
 Returnable packaging  10% - 20% 
 Motor vehicle 25% 

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(d) Intangible asset 

 
Contract-based intangible is capitalised if it meets the definition of an intangible asset 
and the recognition criteria are satisfied.  Contract-based intangible asset is measured at 
cost and is amortised over the year of the contractual arrangement, which is 5 years. 

 
(e) Employee benefits 

 
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by the company in exchange for 
service rendered by employees. These include current or short-term benefits such as 
salaries, bonuses, NIS contributions, annual leave, and non-monetary benefits such as 
medical care and housing, post-employment benefits such as pension and other long-term 
employee benefits such as termination benefits.  
 
(i) Short-term employee benefits 

 
Short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability, net of payments made, 
and charged as expense. The expected cost of vacation leave that accumulates is 
recognised over the period that the employee becomes entitled to the leave.  

 
(ii) Defined-benefit plan 

 
Employee benefits, comprising pensions and other post-employment obligations 
included in the financial statements, have been actuarially determined by a qualified 
independent actuary, appointed by management. The appointed actuary’s report 
outlines the scope of the valuation and the actuary’s opinion. The actuarial valuation 
was conducted in accordance with IAS 19, and the financial statements reflect the 
company’s post-employment benefit asset and obligation as computed by the 
actuary. In carrying out their audit, the auditors rely on the actuary’s report. 
 
Employee benefits, comprising pensions and other post-employment obligations 
included in the financial statements, have been actuarially determined by a qualified 
independent actuary, appointed by management. The appointed actuary’s report 
outlines the scope of the valuation and the actuary’s opinion. The actuarial valuation 
was conducted in accordance with IAS 19, and the financial statements reflect the 
company’s post-employment benefit asset and obligation as computed by the 
actuary. In carrying out their audit, the auditors rely on the actuary’s report. 
 
The company’s net asset in respect of the defined-benefit pension plan is calculated 
by estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in return for 
their service in the current and prior years; that value is discounted to determine the 
present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The discount rate is 
determined by reference to the yield at the reporting date on long-term government 
instruments with tenures approximating those of the company’s obligation. The 
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary, using the projected unit credit 
method. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e) Employee benefits (continued) 
 

(ii) Defined-benefit plan (continued) 
 

Remeasurements of the net defined-benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains 
and losses, are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.  The 
company determines the net interest expense on the net defined-benefit liability for 
the year by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation 
at the beginning of the year to the net defined benefit liability, taking into account 
any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the year as a result of the 
contributions and benefit payments.  Net interest expense and other expenses related 
to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
When the benefits of the plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting 
change in benefits that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. The company recognises gains and losses 
on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 
 
When the fair value of plan assets exceeds the present value of the obligation, a 
pension asset is recorded to the extent of economic benefits which can be derived in 
the form of withdrawals and reductions in future contributions to the plan. 

 
(iii) Defined contribution plan 

 
Obligations for contributions to the defined contribution plan is expensed as the 
related service is provided. 

 
(iv) Other long-term employees benefits 

 
The company also provides post-retirement health benefits to employees upon 
retirement.  The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of 
employment, using a methodology similar to that for the defined-benefit pension 
plan and the present value of future benefits at the reporting date is shown as an 
obligation on the statement of financial position. Remeasurements are recognised in 
profit or loss in the year in which they arise. 
 

(v) Termination benefits 
 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the company can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the company recognises cost for a 
restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of 
the end of the reporting year, then they are discounted. 
 

(f) Financial instruments 
 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(f) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

A financial instrument is recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the company’s 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or when the company 
transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all 
risks and rewards of the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the company’s 
obligations specified in the contract expire, discharged or cancelled. 

 
Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses in respect of financial 
assets. 
 
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, due from related entities, accounts payable and due to related entities . 

 
(g) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash equivalents comprise short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments. These 
investments include short-term deposits where the maturities do not exceed three months 
from acquisition date.  

 
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost. 
 
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the company’s 
cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the statement of cash flows. 
 

(h) Accounts receivable 
 

Accounts receivable are measured at amortised cost less allowance for impairment losses. 
An allowance for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 
original terms of the contract.  The amount of the allowance is the difference between the 
carrying amount and the recoverable amount. 

 
(i) Biological assets 

 
Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell, with any change therein 
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset. 

 
Cassava recognised as biological assets is carried at fair value less costs to sell at the date 
of harvest. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Inventories 
 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of 
inventories is based mainly on standard cost (which approximates to actual on a first-in-
first-out basis). Standard cost, where applicable, includes an appropriate share of 
production overheads based on normal operating capacity. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and selling expenses.  

 
(k) Accounts payable 

 
Accounts payable are measured at amortised cost.  

 
(l) Revenue 

 
Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts, volume rebates, and special 
consumption tax. Revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is 
probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and 
there is no continuing involvement with the goods.  

 
(m) Finance income and costs 

 
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and foreign exchange gains. 
Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.  

 
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and foreign currency losses. 
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

 
(n) Foreign currencies 

 
Balances denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated at the rates 
of exchange ruling on that date.  Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the 
rates of exchange ruling at the dates of those transactions.  Gains and losses arising from 
fluctuations in exchange rates are included in profit or loss. 

 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, foreign currency gains and losses 
recognised in profit or loss are treated as cash items and are included in cash flows from 
operating and financing activities. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(o) Impairment 
 

(i) Financial assets 
 

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one 
or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows from that 
asset.   

 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is 
calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original interest rate. Receivables with a 
short duration are not discounted.  All impairment losses are recognised in profit or 
loss.  

 
Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual 
basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share 
similar credit risk characteristics. 

 
An impairment loss is reversed in profit or loss if the reversal can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.  

 
(ii) Non-financial assets 

 
The carrying amounts of the company’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash- 
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest 
identifiable asset group that generates cash inflows that are largely independent from 
other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value 
in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash 
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
 

(p) Taxation 
 

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax 
is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in 
other comprehensive income, in which case, it is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 
 
Deferred tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the 
reporting date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised. 

 
(q) Provisions 

 
A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the company has 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the 
amount can be made.  If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the obligation. 

 
(r) Contingencies 

 
When it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not 
recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed when an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable. 
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4. Investment in joint venture 

 
The company jointly controls Celebration Brands Limited (CBL), in which it holds a 50% 
shareholding and is party to a shareholders’ agreement, requiring unanimous agreement on 
significant strategic and operating decisions. CBL is engaged in the distribution of the products of 
the venturers in Jamaica.  This involves taking orders, delivery and collection, management of 
credit risk, maintaining coolers and trade dispensing equipment. CBL is structured as a separate 
vehicle, and provides the company rights to the net assets of the entity, and is therefore accounted 
for using the equity method.  
 
In accordance with the agreement under which CBL is established, the company and the other 
investor may make additional capital contributions as determined by the Board of CBL to be 
reasonably necessary for the conduct of CBL’s business.  If either party fails to meet the capital 
call, the other may advance the funds and treat such advance as a deficiency loan to CBL, which 
would be repayable before any distributions to the non-contributing party.  The company’s 
investment in the joint venture is represented as follows: 

  2017 2016 
  $’000 $’000 

Shares, at cost 191,500    191,500  
Share of accumulated profit/(loss)   22,221 (  18,333)  

 213,721 173,167  
 

The following tables summarise the financial information of CBL: 

  2017 2016 
  $’000 $’000 

Non-current assets   187,511         203,632  
Current assets   3,741,023   4,436,464  
Current liabilities   (  3,499,683) (  4,293,761)  

Net assets      428,851      346,335  
 

Revenue    29,742,540 27,595,902  
Profit for the year          81,108      138,346  

Company’s share of CBL’s profit 
   for the year [note 10(c)]        40,554        69,173  

5. Investment properties 

2017 2016 
$’000 $’000 

Balance as at beginning of the year 1,048,499      943,299  
Fair value gain recognised in profit          -          105,150  

Balance as at end of year 1,048,449 1,048,449  
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5. Investment properties (continued) 

 
The carrying amount of investment properties is the fair value of the properties, as determined in 
the previous year, by Property Consultants Limited and Breakenridge & Associates, registered 
independent valuators having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent 
experience in the locations and category of the properties being valued.  Fair value in the current 
year is based on management’s assessment. 
 
Income amounting to $53,127,709 (2016: $49,912,104) was earned and expenses of $44,752,117 
(2016: $11,925,476) were incurred in relation to these properties for the year. 
 
The fair value measurement for investment properties is classified as Level 3 in the fair value 
hierarchy of IFRS 13. 
 
Investment properties are valued at open market values in accordance with IFRS 13. The 
valuation techniques used in arriving at the market value, along with the significant assumptions, 
are described below: 
 
 
 

Valuation techniques 

 
Significant unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-relationship between 
key unobservable inputs 

and fair value measurement 

Direct sales comparison 
approach: The approach is 
based on the principle of 
substitution whereby the 
purchaser with perfect 
knowledge of the property 
market pays no more for the 
subject property than the cost 
of acquiring an existing 
comparable property, 
assuming no cost delay in 
making the substitution. 

The approach requires 
comparison of the subject 
property with others of 
similar design and utility, 
inter alia, which were sold in 
the recent past. 

However as no two 
properties are exactly alike, 
adjustment is made for the 
difference between the 
properties subject to 
valuation and comparable 
properties. 

•  Details of the sales of 
comparable properties 
based on estimated 
rental income potential. 

•  Conditions influencing 
the sale of the 
comparable properties. 

•  Comparability 
adjustment. 

The estimated fair value 
would increase/(decrease) if: 

•  Value of comparable 
properties were 
higher/(lower). 

•  Comparability adjustment 
were higher/(lower). 
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5. Investment properties (continued) 
 

 
 

Valuation techniques 

 
Significant unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-relationship between 
key unobservable inputs and 

fair value measurement 

Income approach:  The 
approach is based on 
income/utility expected to be 
derived from the ownership of 
the property. 

Actual or estimated net income 
and/reversions for comparable 
alternative investments of 
similar quality and durability as 
the subject property are adopted 
and capitalised/discounted to 
obtain the present market rates. 
 

•  Net annual income 

 

The estimated fair value would 
increase/(decrease) if: 
 
•  Annual net income was 

higher/(lower). 
 

 

 

Cost approach:  The approach is 
based on the principle of 
substitution whereby the 
purchaser with perfect 
knowledge of the property 
market pays no more for the 
subject property than the cost of 
constructing a similar facility of 
similar size and design.  
 
The approach requires the 
estimated replacement cost of 
improvements similar to those 
of the subject property and the 
deduction of accrued 
depreciation. The resulting 
depreciated amount is then 
added to the current estimated 
value of the unimproved land. 
 

•  Details of the cost of 
constructing a similar 
facility of similar size 
and design.  
 

•  Estimated replacement 
cost of improvements 
similar to those of 
subject properties. 
 

•  Depreciation rates. 

The estimated fair value would 
increase/(decrease) if: 
 
•  Cost of constructing 

comparable properties 
were higher/(lower). 

 
•  Estimated replacement 

costs of improvements of 
comparable properties 
were higher/(lower). 

 
•  Depreciation rates were 

higher/(lower). 
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6. Property, plant and equipment  
  
    Furniture,     
  Freehold Plant fixtures and   Construction 
  land and and computer Motor Returnable in  
  buildings equipment equipment vehicle packaging progress Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Cost: 
  December 31, 2015 1,463,403 6,227,447 628,504 21,695 3,617,576 1,808,151 13,766,776 
 Additions 4,255 89,899 30,284 10,139 813,839 1,309,665 2,258,081 
  Transfers  43,166 770,660 8,061      -             -        (   821,887)        -        
  Disposals/write-off          -        (   341,435) (  24,192)      -      (       7,456)         -        (     373,083) 

  December 31, 2016 1,510,824 6,746,571 642,657 31,834 4,423,959 2,295,929 15,651,774 
 Additions 16,247 740,565 84,339           -      1,016,037 1,851,115 3,708,303 
  Transfers      -        841,826      -           -             -        (   841,826)        -        
  Transfer to intangible 
     assets       -             -             -           -             -        (     30,284) (       30,284) 
  Disposals/write-off          -        (   551,933) (415,566)      -      (     15,225) (     56,329) (  1,039,053) 

  December 31, 2017 1,527,071 7,777,029 311,430 31,834 5,424,771 3,218,605 18,290,740 
 
 Depreciation and  
    impairment losses: 
 December 31, 2015    526,711 3,695,860 582,835   1,085 2,030,121         -          6,836,612 
 Charge for the year  34,851 371,388 17,764 4,339 580,920         -        1,009,262 
 Eliminated on  
  disposals/write-off         -        (   281,276) (  13,740)      -      (       2,079)         -        (    297,095) 

December 31, 2016    561,562 3,785,972 586,859   5,424 2,608,962         -          7,548,779 
 Charge for the year  46,288 398,976 36,653 10,375 644,503         -        1,136,795 
  Eliminated on  
   disposals/write-off         -        (   551,678) (415,566)      -      (       8,258)         -        (     975,502) 

  December 31, 2017    607,850 3,633,270 207,946 15,799 3,245,207         -        7,710,072 
Carrying amounts: 

  December 31, 2017    919,221 4,143,759 103,484 16,035 2,179,564 3,218,605 10,580,668 

  December 31, 2016    949,262 2,960,599   55,798 26,410 1,814,997 2,295,929   8,102,995 

  December 31, 2015    936,692 2,531,587   45,669 20,610 1,587,455 1,808,151   6,930,164 

 
7. Intangible asset 

    2017 2016 
    $’000 $’000 
 
 Balance as at end of the year   969,117 -       
 Additions   - 1,211,396 
 Transfer from property, plant and equipment    30,284 -       
 Amortisation, being balance as at the end of the year (249,773) (   242,279) 

 Carrying amount as at end of the year  749,628    969,117 
 
 The intangible asset mainly represents the cost of licensing agreement with Diageo PLC for the 

rights to manufacture, import, market, distribute and sell certain Diageo products exclusively in 
Jamaica.  The arrangement will expire on December 31, 2020. 

 
8. Employee benefits asset/obligation 

 
 The company operated a defined benefit pension plan which was open to all permanent 

employees up to October 31, 2016 and is managed by an independent fund manager. The plan 
was funded by employee contributions at rates varying between 6% and 10% of salary and 
employer contributions at rates recommended by independent actuaries from time to time. 
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8. Employee benefits asset/obligation (continued) 
 

Consequent on approval by the Financial Services Commission and Tax Administration Jamaica 
on November 24, 2017, the plan was discontinued with an effective date of October 31, 2016. 
Effective November 1, 2016, the company operates a hybrid plan consisting of both a defined 
benefit and defined contribution section. 
 
The defined benefits section is funded by annuities purchased from proceeds of the old plan to 
secure benefits that have accrued up to October 31, 2016. 
 
Employer contributions in the defined contribution section is being funded from employers’ 
surplus from the old plan. 
 
The company also provides post-employment medical benefits to employees upon retirement. 
 
(a) Employee benefit asset/(obligation) 

    
  Pension asset   Medical obligation  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Present value of obligations (7,999,000) (6,886,000) (54,000) (146,000) 
Fair value of plan assets 9,622,000 8,776,000 -      -       
Asset not recognised due to limitation (   175,000) (   350,000)      -            -        

Net asset/(obligation) at end of year 1,448,000 1,540,000 (54,000) (146,000) 
 

(b) Movements in the present value of funded and unfunded obligations 
   
  Pension asset   Medical obligation  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  

Balance at beginning of year (6,886,000) (5,804,000) (146,000) (185,000) 
Benefits paid 418,000 332,000 4,000 4,000 
Service and interest costs (   485,000) (   577,000) (    5,000) (  23,000) 
Members’ contributions (     91,000) (     87,000) -       -      
Effect of curtailment 307,000 -        86,000 -      
Value of annuities purchased (4,297,000) -        -       -      
Premiums paid for annuities 3,955,000 -        -       -      
Remeasurements-experience  
 adjustments (   920,000) (   750,000)     7,000   58,000 

Balance at end of  year (7,999,000) (6,886,000) (  54,000) (146,000) 
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8. Employee benefits asset/obligation (continued) 
 

(c) Movement in pension plan assets 
 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

Fair value of plan assets at beginning  
   of year 8,776,000    7,832,000 
Members’ contributions 91,000 87,000 
Employer’s contributions 11,000 21,000 
Interest income on plan assets 608,000 656,000 
Benefits paid (   418,000) (   332,000) 
Refund to employer (1,370,000) -       
Value of annuities purchased 4,297,000 -       
Premiums paid for annuities (3,955,000) -       
Remeasurements-experience adjustments 1,582,000    512,000 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 9,622,000 8,776,000 

  
 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

Plan assets consist of the following: 
Fixed income fund 356,000 1,316,000 
Global markets fund 1,000 351,000 
Money market fund -        88,000 
CPI indexed 360,000 965,000 
Mortgage and real estate fund 3,488,000 2,721,000 
Equity fund 1,000 2,721,000 
Foreign currency fund 8,000    614,000 
Annuities purchased 4,315,000 -        
Receivables 1,093,000         -         

  9,622,000 8,776,000 
 

(d) Income recognised for the year 
 

  Pension asset   Medical obligation  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Current service costs 75,000     97,000      -      10,000 
Net interest costs: 

 Interest on obligation 410,000 480,000 5,000 13,000 
 Interest income on plan assets (608,000) (656,000)      -          -     
 Impact of curtailment (385,000)      -       (86,000)      -     
 Interest on effect of asset ceiling    32,000   68,000      -            -      

  (476,000) (  11,000) (81,000) 23,000 
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8. Employee benefits asset/obligation (continued) 
 

(e) Remeasurement effects recognised in other comprehensive income 
 

  Pension asset  Medical obligation  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Change in financial assumptions -        (309,000)     -     (19,000) 
Experience adjustment (1,044,000) (325,000) (7,000) (39,000) 
Impact of curtailment 78,000      -           -          -      
Change in effect of the asset ceiling    175,000 350,000     -          -       

  (   791,000) (284,000) (7,000) (58,000) 
 

(f) Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages) 
 

 2017 2016 
 % % 

 

  Inflation rate  5.0 6.0 
  Discount rate  8.0 9.0 
  Pay growth  N/A 6.0 
  Pension increases  0 5.0 
  Medical claims growth  7.5 8.5 
 

 (i) The expected long-term rate of return is based on market expectation of inflation of 
5% (2016: 6%) plus a margin for real returns of 2% on a balanced portfolio of equities 
and bonds. 

 (ii) Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on American 1994 Group Annuitant 
Mortality (GAM94) table. 

 
 

9. Accounts receivable 
 
   2017 2016 
   $’000 $’000 

 

Trade  3,707,229    3,277,517 
Other     316,519    436,293 

   4,023,748 3,713,810 
Less: Allowance for impairment (     36,388) (     49,386) 

   3,987,360 3,664,424 
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9. Accounts receivable (continued) 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables, less allowance for impairment, at 
the reporting date by type of customer was: 

 

  2017 2016 
  $’000 $’000 
 

On-trade 4,842              154  
Off-trade  3,604,927 3,162,215  
Export  65,860 49,824  
Other  (       6,464)      15,938  

  3,669,165 3,228,131  
 
The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was: 

 
   2017   2016  
  Gross Impairment Gross Impairment 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Not past due 3,294,584 -       3,221,029      -        
 Past due 31-60 days 405,746 -          5,620      -        
 More than 60 days        6,899 (36,388)      50,868 (49,386)  

 Total 3,707,229 (36,388) 3,277,517 (49,386)  
 
 The movement in the allowance for impairment was as follows: 
  
 2017 2016 
   $’000 $’000 

 

Balance at beginning of year   49,386     68,455 
Debts recovered   (  6,568) (17,317) 
Debts written-off – trade receivables   (27,067) (15,931) 
Charge for the year – trade receivables  20,637 14,179 

Balance at end of year   36,388 49,386 
 
 

10. Related party balances and transactions  
 

(a) Definition of related parties 
 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements (referred to in IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”, in this 
case, the company). 

 

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the company if that 
person: 

 

(i) has control or joint control over the company; 
 

(ii) has significant influence over the company; or 
 

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the company or of a parent of 
the company. 
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10. Related party balances and transactions (continued)

(a) Definition of related parties (continued)

(B) An entity is related to the company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the company are members of the same group (which means that 
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate 

of the third entity.
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 

either the company or an entity related to the company.  
(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (A).
(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 

member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity).  

 

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key 
management personnel services to the company or to the parent of the company. 

 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related 
parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 

(b) Identity of related parties 
 

The company has related party relationships with the ultimate parent company, parent 
company, fellow subsidiaries, directors and key management personnel.     

(c) The statement of financial position includes the following balances arising from 
transactions with related parties, in the ordinary course of business: 

 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

Related entities: 
Due from (i)  1,802,512    1,827,538 
Due to (ii)  (1,703,236) (1,383,457) 

Joint venture: 
Accounts receivable (iii) 3,598,915 3,150,784 
Accounts payable (iv)    494,495    327,603 
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10. Related party balances and transactions (continued)

(c) The statement of financial position includes the following balances arising from 
transactions with related parties, in the ordinary course of business:

(i) Include in this amount is $1,243,041,000 (2016: 1,552,436,000) which represents 
an unsecured loan to Heineken International BV, bearing an interest at LIBOR plus 
a margin of 45 basis points per annum and payable in full on December 12, 2018.  
The remaining balance represents transactions with Heineken group companies for 
goods rendered. 

 
(ii) This represents balances with Heineken group companies in the current year and 

Diageo group companies in the prior year which are unsecured, interest-free and 
repayable within twelve (12) months. 

 
(iii) These are unsecured, interest free and collectible within twelve (12) months. 
 
(iv) This is unsecured, interest free and repayable within twelve (12) months. 
 

(d) The income statement includes income earned from, and expenses incurred in, 
transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of business, as follows: 

 
  2017 2016 
  $’000 $’000 

Related entities under Heineken Group: 
 Sales  (  3,128,638) (  1,214,000) 
 Royalty expense  87,599 101,848 

 

 Joint venture: 
 Gross sales  (20,469,432) (17,513,833) 
 Cost of sales  1,504,800 1,354,430 
 Share of profit (note 4) (       40,554) (       69,173) 

 Key management personnel compensation: 
 Short-term employment benefits 226,953 205,318 
 Post-employment benefits expense             845             152 

11. Inventories 
2017 2016 

  $’000 $’000 
 

Raw materials   349,201     232,875 
Work-in-progress   281,327 200,763 
Finished goods   399,833 247,991 
Consumables   531,576 595,916 
Plant and equipment spares      295,854    217,288 

     1,857,791 1,494,833 
 

Inventories of $3,669,954 (2016: $3,006,050) were recognised as expense during the year and 
included in the income statement as part of cost of sales. 
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12. Accounts payable 
 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

 
Trade   2,499,722 2,110,569 
Staff accruals   74,784 367,303 
Deposits – returnables   667,075 525,753 
Accrued charges   924,838 505,776 
Other     720,064    886,400 

    4,886,483 4,395,801 
 
 

13. Share capital 
 

Authorised: 
 2,810,500,000 ordinary shares of no par value 

 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

Issued and fully paid: 
 2,809,170,386 ordinary stocks of no par value 2,174,980 2,174,980 

 
 

14. Capital reserves 
  

Capital reserves represent revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment. 
 
 

15. Other reserves 
 

 Other reserves represent the net employee benefits asset of $1,394,000,000 (2016: 
$1,394,000,000), less deferred tax of $348,500,000 (2016: $348,500,000) (note 16), arising on 
the actuarial valuation under IAS 19, of the company’s defined benefit arrangements.  

 
 

16. Deferred tax liabilities 
   2017  
 Balance at 
 beginning Recognised Recognised Balance at 
 of year in income in equity end of year 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  [Note 19(a)(ii)]  

  
Accrued vacation leave (    8,759) (    1,494) - (  10,253) 
Unrealised foreign exchange gain 7,394 (  19,691) - (  12,297) 
Property, plant and equipment 135,245 135,244 - 270,489 
Interest receivable 154 13 - 167 
Employee benefits asset 348,500 (199,500) 199,500 348,500 

 482,534 (  85,428) 199,500 596,606 
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16. Deferred tax liabilities (continued) 
 

  2016  
 Balance at 
 beginning Recognised Recognised Balance at 
 of year in income in equity end of year 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  [Note 19(a)(ii)]  

  
Accrued vacation leave (    8,089) (     670)      -      (    8,759) 
Unrealised foreign exchange gain     1,100   6,294      -          7,394 
Property, plant and equipment 161,256 (26,011)      -      135,245 
Interest receivable      -       154      -      154 
Employee benefits asset 259,750   3,250 85,500 348,500 

 414,017 (16,983) 85,500 482,534 
 
 

17. Gross sales 
 

Gross sales represents the invoiced value of goods and services, including Special 
Consumption Tax (SCT), environmental levy and royalties but excluding General 
Consumption Tax (GCT). 

 
 

18. Profit before taxation 
 

(a) Expense by nature: 
   2017 2016 
   $’000 $’000 

 Raw materials and consumables 3,300,719    2,620,477 
 Other cost of production and logistics 2,537,266 2,434,624 
 Staff costs  2,895,999 2,352,117 
 Depreciation and amortisation 690,638 1,251,541 
 Other promotion costs  1,386,568 866,462 
 Repairs and maintenance 952,340 861,424 
 Advertising  466,558 508,484 
 Energy and utilties  711,128 431,645 
 Legal, professional and consultancy 160,154    148,737 
 Bad debts  10,503 14,179 
 Auditors' remuneration           9,680          8,350 
 Cost of sales, marketing costs, general, selling 
 and administration expenses carried forward 13,121,553 11,498,040 
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18. Profit before taxation (continued) 

(a) Expense by nature (continued): 
  2017 2016 
  $’000 $’000 

Cost of sales, marketing costs, general, selling 
and administration expenses brought forward 13,121,553 11,498,040 

Directors' emoluments:  
Fees  6,170 5,980 

Key management personnel 82,744 64,067 
Other    1,772,962      459,530 

 14,983,429 12,027,617 
(b) Profit before taxation is stated after crediting: 

 
Royalties earned  (   268,228) (   308,969) 
Foreign exchange gains  (   217,835) (   125,385) 

19. Taxation 
 

(a) The taxation charge is based on the company’s results for the year, as adjusted for 
taxation purposes, and comprises: 

  2017 2016 
  $’000 $’000 

(i) Current tax expense: 
  Income tax at 25% 889,186    744,918 
    

(ii) Deferred taxation: 
  Origination and reversal of temporary 
   differences (note 16) (  85,428) (  16,983) 

  Taxation  803,758 727,935 
 

(b) Reconciliation of actual taxation charge: 
   2017 2016 
   $’000 $’000 

 Profit before taxation 3,912,394   4,078,762  

 Computed "expected" tax charge at 25% 978,099 1,019,691  
 Difference between profit for financial statements 
  and tax reporting purposes on: 
 Depreciation charge and capital allowances 36,026 (     49,389)  
 Employer tax credit (   235,966) (   206,977)  
  Fair value gain on investment properties -       (     26,288) 
  Other      25,599 (       9,102)  

 Actual taxation charge    803,758    727,935  
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20. Dividends 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 
 Ordinary dividends: 55¢ (2016: 52¢) 
  per stock unit – gross 1,545,044 1,461,100 
 
 

21. Contingent liabilities  
 

(i) At the reporting date, the company had a contingent liability in respect of letters of 
credit issued in favour of the Collector of Customs, amounting to $50,000,000 (2016: 
$47,500,000), in the ordinary course of business. 

 
(ii) Certain claims have been made against the company for which defences have been filed. 

No provision has been made in the financial statements with respect to these claims, as 
management expects the defence to be successful.  

 
 

22. Financial risk management 
 

 The company has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk from its use of 
financial instruments in its operations. This note presents information about the company’s 
exposure to each of the above risks, the company’s objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the company’s management of capital. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. 

 
 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 

company’s risk management framework. The Board has established a Risk Management 
Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the company’s risk 
management policies.  The company, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obligations. 

 
(i) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from 
the company’s cash and cash equivalents and receivables from customers. The primary 
concentration of credit risk is within trade receivables, which is mitigated by the 
performance of regular credit evaluation of customers. 

 

Trade receivables 
 

Appropriate credit checks, references and analyses are performed and/or received in 
order to assess customers’ credit risk prior to offering new credit or increasing existing 
credit limits. Customers who are in receivership or liquidation or exceeding their credit 
limits are identified and the appropriate actions taken.  Key performance indicators are 
reviewed at least monthly, including the amount of cash collected, average debt 
collection period, percentage of customers with overdue balances and debts deemed 
uncollectible. 
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22. Financial risk management (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Credit limits for all customers are reviewed at least annually against the customers’ 
payment history, assessment of customers’ credit risk and sales department information. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents  

 
The company maintains cash resources with reputable financial institutions that are 
appropriately licensed and regulated, therefore credit risk is considered to be low. No 
allowance for impairment is deemed necessary. 
 
Exposure to credit risk 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets on the statement of financial position represents 
the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date. 
 
 Management makes specific impairment allowance, irrespective of ageing for certain 
trade receivables, after assessing the circumstances relating to those receivables.  The 
majority of the overall trade receivable balance relates to customers that have a good 
record of payment.  There is a significant concentration of credit risk, in that the balance 
with the joint venture company, Celebration Brands Limited, accounts for approximately 
97% (2016: 89%) of the trade receivables balance. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the company did not renegotiate the terms of 
trade receivables with any of its customers. 
 
The allowance account in respect of trade receivables is used to record impairment 
losses, unless management is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible. 
At that point, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off directly against the 
receivable balance. 
 
There was no change to the company’s exposure to credit risk or the manner in which it 
measures and manages this risk during the year. 

 
(ii) Liquidity risk 

  
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial 

obligations as they fall due. The company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, 
as far as possible, that it has sufficient funds to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 
to the company’s reputation.
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk (continued) 

The company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational 
expenses. The company maintains two lines of unsecured credit, which are available if 
the company does not have sufficient cash to settle its obligation, as follows: 

(a) $600,000,000 (2016: $600,000,000) facility with The Bank of Nova Scotia 
Jamaica Limited. Interest is negotiated or determined at the time the funds are 
accessed. 

 
(b) US$9,000,000 (2016: US$9,000,000) line of credit with Citibank N.A., Jamaica 

Branch. The rate of interest per annum is determined at the time the funds are 
accessed.  

The contractual outflows for accounts payable and the amounts due to related parties are 
represented by their carrying amounts and require settlement within 12 months of the 
reporting date. 
 
There was no change to the company’s exposure to liquidity risk or the manner in which 
it measures and manages this risk during the year. 

 
(iii) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. 
 
Management of market risk 
 
For each of the major components of market risk, the company has policies and 
procedures in place which detail how each risk should be monitored and managed. The 
management of each of these major components of risk and the exposure of the 
company at the reporting date are as follows: 

 
(a) Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value or cash flows of a financial 
instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The company is exposed to currency risk on purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the Jamaica dollar, which is the functional currency of the 
company. 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(iii) Market risk (continued) 
 
(a) Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 

Exposure to currency risk 

The company had net foreign currency assets/(liabilities) as follows: 
 
  Jamaican dollar equivalent  
 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

Currency 

United States dollars 280,639 (1,077,093) 
Pounds sterling 488,059 (   274,595) 
Euro 423,155 (1,182,712) 

Sensitivity analysis 

The following table details the company’s sensitivity to a 2% (2016: 1%) 
strengthening and 4% (2016: 6%) weakening of the Jamaica dollar against the 
relevant currencies based on the effect that such changes would have on the 
reported profits for the year. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant and was performed on the same basis as 
December 31, 2016. 

  2017   2016  
 2% strengthening 4% weakening 1% strengthening 6% weakening 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Currency 

United States dollars 698 (1,395) (1,393) 8,361 
Pounds sterling 811 (3,244) (   447) 2,682 
Euro 623 (2,493) (1,632) 9,782 

(b) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates.   

The company materially contracts financial liabilities at fixed interest rates for the 
duration of the term. When utilised, bank overdrafts are subject to fixed interest 
rates, which may be varied with appropriate notice by the lender.  

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



DESNOES & GEDDES LIMITED

Desnoes & Geddes Annual Report 2017  |   64

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year ended December 31, 2017

22. Financial risk management (continued) 

(iii) Market risk (continued) 

The company does not carry any fianancial instrument at fair value, therefore a change 
in market interest rates would not affect the carrying value of the company’s financial 
instruments. 
 
There was no change to the company’s exposure to market risk or the manner in which 
it measures and manages this risk during the year. 

 
(iv) Capital management 

 
The company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements other than the 
stock exchange requirement to have positive equity.  The Board’s policy is to maintain 
a strong capital base, which the company defines as total equity, so as to maintain 
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the 
business. The Board of Directors monitors the level of dividends to ordinary 
stockholders and the return on capital.  

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be 
possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a 
sound capital position. 

 
There were no changes in the company’s approach to capital management during the 
year. 

23. Fair values 
 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due from fellow subsidiaries, 
due to fellow subsidiaries and accounts payable was determined to approximate their carrying 
value due to their short-term nature [note 2(d)(iv)]. 

24. Lease contract  
 

At the reporting date, the future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable leases are 
receivable as follows: 

2017 2016 
$’000 $’000 

 
Within one year 53,128 49,912 
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I/We.....................................................................................................................of....................................................................................................................

Being a member/members of Desnoes & Geddes Limited, hereby appoint

.........................................................................................................................of …….................................................................………………………………………….

Or failing him, ……........................................................................……..………………of ………...…..................................................……………………………………

As my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 

Wednesday, June 20, 2018 at 10:00 a.m. and any adjournment thereof.

Dated…………..............................................................…………	        Signed …................................................................................……………………………..

Please indicate by inserting “X” in the space below how you wish your vote to be cast.  If no indication is given your proxy 
will vote for or against resolution or abstain as he/she thinks fit.

NOTES:

1.	 If a member is a corporation, this form must be done under common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney 
duly authorised in writing.

2.	 To be valid, this form must be received at the Registered Office of the Company, 214 Spanish Town Road, Kingston 
11, no later than 10:00 a.m. on June 19, 2018.

PLACE 
$100

STAMP
HERE

For Against

1 Adopting the financial statements and reports of Directors and Auditors thereon

2 Declaration of Dividend

3 Approving Fees for Non-Executive Directors for the year

4a Re-electing Director Mr. Eugene Ubalijoro

4b Re-electing Director Mr. Peter Melhado

5 Remuneration of the Auditors

FORM OF PROXY
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Increased production 
capacity of 550,000HL Energy savings in water, 

electricity and chemicals

26,000 cases of beer 
produced daily for exports US$ 17.93M investment

CAPACITY EXPANSION - LINE 8

1

START

2

3

Depalletizer
removes bottles from a pallet 
and transfers them to conveyor 
for production purposes.

Rinser
washes exterior 
and interior of the 
bottle by using 
chemicals and 
water at different 
stages.

Filler 
fills products/ 
liquid into a 
bottle or 
container.

4 Pasteurizer 
kills microbes 
and prevents 
beer from 
turning sour.

6 Multi Pack Zone
produces secondary 
packages  i.e. cartons and 
6pack baskets/sleeves  
traditionally found in 
supermarkets or pet marts.

5 Labeler
applies labels.BEER
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